Case No. 23-126314-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

MARQUISE JOHNSON, Plaintiff-Appellant,

V.

BASS PRO OUTDOOR WORLD, LLC, FABRICA D'ARMI PIETRO BERETTA, S.P.A., AND BERETTA U.S.A. CORP., Defendants-Appellees.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT MARQUISE JOHNSON

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF LYON COUNTY HONORABLE MERLIN G. WHEELER, JUDGE DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 2020CV000085

> Richard L. Budden, #25541 SHAMBERG, JOHNSON & BERGMAN, CHTD. 2600 Grand Boulevard, Suite 550 Kansas City, MO 64108

T: (816) 474-0004 F: (816) 474-0003 rbudden@sjblaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

Oral argument requested: 20 Minutes

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Marquise Johnson filed suit against Defendants alleging they should be held strictly liable or negligent for their respective roles in designing, manufacturing, and selling the defective Beretta APX 9mm handgun ("the Handgun"), which caused or contributed to cause Plaintiff's personal injury. This is an interlocutory appeal arising out of the District Court's Order granting summary judgment in favor of defendants Beretta U.S.A. Corp. and Bass Pro Outdoor World, LLC.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

Issue I: Plaintiff's claims against defendants Beretta U.S.A. Corp. and Bass Pro Outdoor World, LLC are not barred under the Protection of Lawful Commerce in Arm Act ("PLCAA") 15 U.S.C. §§ 7901, et seq.).

Issue II: The District Court erred in ruling *sua sponte* that causation testimony by former defendant and fact witness André Lewis is inadmissible.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

For purposes of their Motion for Summary Judgment, defendants Beretta U.S.A. Corp. and Bass Pro Outdoor World, LLC ("Defendants") did not challenge the legal sufficiency of Plaintiff's allegations or the evidence establishing Plaintiff's claims against them. However, Plaintiff's unchallenged allegations and factual recitations provide an important factual background for this Court's review of the legal issues at hand.

Defendants Beretta U.S.A. Corp. and Bass Pro Outdoor World, LLC imported and sold the Handgun that injured Plaintiff.

Plaintiff was injured when the Handgun unexpectedly and accidentally discharged a round of ammunition into both of Plaintiff's legs. (R. I, 207-209; 213-215). Defendant Fabbrica D'Armi Pietro Beretta, S.p.A. designed and manufactured the Handgun that

caused Plaintiff's injuries in this case. (R. I, 207-209; 221-229). Defendant Beretta U.S.A. Corp. imported, marketed, and wholesaled the Handgun to defendant Bass Pro. (R. I, 207-209; 213; 221-229). In 2018, defendant Bass Pro marketed and sold the Handgun to 21-year-old Emporia State University student André Lewis in Olathe, Kansas. (R. I, 213; 221-229). On appeal, there is no question that Defendants placed the Handgun in the stream of commerce and into Mr. Lewis's hands.

The Beretta APX handgun that injured Plaintiff was unreasonably dangerous because it lacked reasonable safety features commonly available on other handguns, including other models of the Beretta APX handgun.

Defendants are aware of the grave risk of injury and death their products pose to gun owners and their families and friends. (R. I, 210). Defendants know that many of their customers will foreseeably misuse or mishandle their firearms, and that as a result, many people will be injured unless those firearms are made with safety features to prevent those injuries. (R. I, 211).

Specifically, Defendants know that many people are often deceived by the design of semiautomatic firearms like the Handgun to believe that they are unloaded and safe after the ammunition magazine is removed, when the reality is that a live round of ammunition may remain in the chamber. (R. I, 211). Defendants know that many people are seriously wounded when a handgun is unintentionally discharged under those circumstances. (R. I, 211).

For years, Defendants have been aware of feasible safety features that can prevent these injuries. (R. I, 211). For example, a magazine disconnect safety is a device that blocks a trigger pull and prevents the firearm from firing when the magazine has been removed.

(R. I, 211). Magazine disconnect safeties were invented more than a century ago, precisely to prevent the risk of an unintentional discharge when the user believes the firearm to be unloaded. (R. I, 211). Another example of a standard safety feature is the loaded chamber indicator—example below—which provides a visual prompt to alert the user that a round of ammunition is chambered and a pull of the trigger will discharge the firearm. (R. I, 212).



Defendants were aware of magazine disconnect safety and loaded chamber indicator technology when they placed the Handgun in the stream of commerce. (R. I, 212). Indeed, Defendants sold a version of the Handgun that included these very safety features. Despite this knowledge, Defendants sold the Handgun without these safety features, which ended up in the hands of Mr. Lewis. (R. V, 170). Defendants do not challenge, for purposes of

this appeal, Plaintiff's evidence in support of his claims that the Handgun was unreasonably dangerous for lacking these safety features.

Plaintiff was injured by the Beretta APX handgun when its lack of reasonable safety features caused or contributed to cause an accidental discharge after the user mistakenly believed he had disarmed the Handgun.

On August 18, 2018, André Lewis was driving three teammates from the Emporia State University football team in his Dodge Charger. (R. I, 213). He was driving his teammates home after a football team dinner. (R. I, 213). One of his teammates, plaintiff Marquise Johnson, was riding in the passenger's seat next to Mr. Lewis. (R. I, 213).

In the car, Mr. Lewis revealed the Beretta APX 9mm handgun to his passengers. (R. I, 213). He intentionally removed the magazine from the Handgun for the purpose of disarming it. (R. V, 168). After removing the magazine from the Handgun, Mr. Lewis also pulled the slide back. (R. V, 168). Mr. Lewis mistakenly believed that the weapon was unloaded and would not fire at that point. (R. V, 168).

Mr. Lewis sought to show his teammates he could disassemble the weapon and believed he had to pull the trigger of the Handgun to do so, so he pulled the trigger with that purpose in mind. (R. V, 163-164). Unbeknownst to Mr. Lewis, despite his removal of the magazine and his pulling the slide back, a round of ammunition remained in the chamber and discharged from the Handgun into Plaintiff's legs when Mr. Lewis pulled the trigger. (R. I, 214-215). Mr. Lewis applied pressure to Plaintiff's leg and drove Plaintiff to the hospital for treatment. (R. V, 169). Plaintiff lost his left leg, which was ultimately amputated above the knee as a result. (R. I, 214).

Plaintiff's injury would have been prevented if the Beretta APX handgun had been designed, manufactured, or sold with reasonable safety features.

Mr. Lewis testified at his deposition that this shooting would not have occurred if the Handgun had certain safety features. Mr. Lewis testified that if the Handgun had a magazine disconnect safety on it, his trigger pull would not have been able to discharge the Handgun with the magazine removed. (R. V, 171). He admitted this would have prevented Plaintiff's injuries. (R. V, 171).

Mr. Lewis testified he did not know that there was a round of ammunition in the chamber of the Handgun. (R. V, 169). Mr. Lewis testified he would not have pulled the trigger on the Handgun if he knew there was a round in the chamber. (R. V, 169). Mr. Lewis admitted that if the Handgun had a loaded chamber indicator on it, the Handgun would have indicated the presence of a round in the chamber even when the magazine was out. (R. V, 170). He admitted that if a loaded chamber indicator signaled the Handgun was still loaded, he would not have pulled the trigger, preventing Plaintiff's injuries. (R. V, 171).

Plaintiff's injuries were the result of an accident, the unintentional discharge of the Handgun by Mr. Lewis.

Mr. Lewis testified that the discharge of the Handgun was an accident. (R. V, 171). The Emporia Police Department determined the shooting was an accident. (R. V, 171-172). The Lyon County Attorney's Office investigated the discharge of the Handgun and was unable to "find sufficient facts to support a conclusion of reckless behavior as defined by our statute." (R. V, 171). The Lyon County Attorney's Office determined that "the behavior prior to the discharge of the gun does not appear to meet the legal definition of disregarding

a substantial and unjustifiable risk or result." (R. V, 171). The Lyon County Attorney's Office determined that Mr. Lewis had not even violated K.S.A. 21-6308(a)(3)(B), which criminalizes discharging a firearm on a public road, because his actions were not those "the legislature contemplated in enacting that statute." (R. V, 171). Mr. Lewis was never arrested, let alone charged, for the discharge of the firearm. (R. V, 172).

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

This case is about whether the accidental discharge of a firearm constitutes a volitional, criminal act under Kansas law such that Plaintiff's claims against defendants Beretta U.S.A. Corp. and Bass Pro Outdoor World, LLC (hereinafter "Defendants") are barred under federal law. Plaintiff was injured by a bullet that was accidentally fired from a Beretta APX handgun, when the gun's owner believed he had completely unloaded and disarmed the Handgun. Under PLCAA, a manufacturer or seller of a firearm is not subject to a civil action for damages "resulting from the criminal or unlawful misuse of" a firearm. 15 U.S.C. § 7903(5)(A). An exception, however, allows any action for physical injury resulting directly from a defect in design or manufacture of the firearm. But this exception does not apply when the discharge of the firearm was caused by "a volitional act that constituted a criminal offense." 15 U.S.C. § 7903(5)(A)(v).

Plaintiff's product defect claims against Defendants are, thus, allowed, unless Plaintiff's injuries constitute those "resulting from the criminal or unlawful misuse of" the Beretta APX handgun (satisfying the general definition in § 7903(5)(A)) *and* the mistaken firing of the Beretta APX handgun was "a volitional act that constituted a criminal offense" (satisfying the disqualifying phrase in the otherwise applicable exception in

§ 7903(5)(A)(v)). Here, the unintentional and accidental firing of the Beretta APX fails to satisfy *either* phrase.

The evidence Plaintiff presented to the District Court on summary judgment showed that this shooting did not result solely from a crime, as PLCAA requires. Rather, the shooting was completely accidental. Mr. Lewis exercised no volition—let alone criminal intent—to discharge the Beretta APX handgun. Law enforcement investigating the shooting concluded it was accidental, and the district attorney responsible for considering criminal charges opined that Mr. Lewis lacked criminal intent. Thus, the discharge of the firearm and Plaintiff's injuries did not result from a "criminal or unlawful misuse of" the Handgun, nor from a "volitional act that constituted a criminal offense." As such, PLCAA does not bar Plaintiff's product defect case against Defendants.

On summary judgment, the District Court erroneously held that the discharge of the firearm was a criminal act, despite the evidence that Mr. Lewis did not intend or wish to fire the Handgun. Because Mr. Lewis intentionally pulled the trigger to disassemble the Beretta APX handgun, the District Court determined that that the shooting of Plaintiff can also be considered volitional. These findings led the Court to hold that PLCAA prohibits Plaintiff's claims against Defendants and that Plaintiffs could not rely upon the exception in § 7903(5)(A)(v).

Additionally, the District Court incorrectly issued a *sua sponte* advisory opinion that certain causation testimony by Mr. Lewis—the accidental shooter—would be inadmissible at trial against the remaining defendant, the manufacturer of the Beretta APX handgun. The Court should take this opportunity to correct the District Court's ruling on this point, as the

matter has not been briefed, and Mr. Lewis's testimony on what he would have done differently is admissible causation testimony under Kansas law.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews de novo the district court's grant of summary judgment. *Long v. Turk*, 265 Kan 855, 865 (1998). "Summary judgment is seldom proper in negligence cases." *Bacon v. Mercy Hosp. of Ft. Scott, Kan.*, 243 Kan. 303, 307 (1988). "Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Bracken v. Dixon Industries, Inc.*, 272 Kan. 1272, 1274–75 (2002). The moving party must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that it is entitled to summary judgment. *See Mildfelt v. Lair*, 221 Kan. 557, 559 (1977).

The movant is not entitled to summary judgment when the responding party sets forth "specific facts showing a genuine issue for trial." *Doughty v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 258 Kan. 493, 496 (1995). "The trial court is required to resolve all facts and inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence in favor of the party against whom the ruling is sought." *Bracken*, 272 Kan. at 1275. "When opposing a motion for summary judgment, an adverse party must come forward with evidence to establish a dispute as to a material fact." *Id.* "In order to preclude summary judgment, the facts subject to the dispute must be material to the conclusive issues in the case." *Id.* "On appeal, we apply the same rules and where we find reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusions drawn from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied." *Id.*

"Juries ordinarily decide fact questions." *Nash v. Blatchford*, 56 Kan. App. 2d 592, 615 (2019). A district court may only grant summary judgment to a defendant "if the material facts are undisputed or any disputes are resolved in the plaintiff's favor and those circumstances show either that no reasonable jury could find for the plaintiff or that the defendant is otherwise entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id*.

Issue 1: Plaintiff's claims against Defendants are not barred under PLCAA.

This section of the brief addresses the two sections of PLCAA that apply in this case. First, the brief will address PLCAA generally, explaining its applicable definitions and provisions. Second, the brief sets forth controlling authority from the United States Supreme Court requiring a narrow construction of PLCAA's protections. Third, the brief explains that Plaintiff's claim is not a "qualified civil liability action" barred by PLCAA because Plaintiff's injuries did not result from "the criminal or unlawful misuse of" the Beretta APX handgun. Next, the brief explains that Plaintiff's product defect claims are statutorily excluded from the definition of a "qualified civil liability action" because the shooting was not a "volitional act that constituted a criminal offense." Finally, Plaintiff's brief addresses the District Court's review of the facts and its holding that Plaintiff's claims are barred by PLCAA as a matter of law based on its conclusion that Mr. Lewis intentionally and criminally shot Plaintiff.

A. PLCAA prohibits any claim that meets its definition of a "qualified civil liability action."

In 2005, Congress passed (and the President signed) the Protection of Lawful Commerce in Arms Act, commonly referred to as the PLCAA, codified as 15 U.S.C.

§§ 7901-7903. Congress's findings and the purposes of PLCAA are set forth in 15 U.S.C. § 7901. Section 7902 sets forth the prohibition on certain civil cases: "A qualified civil liability action may not be brought in any Federal or State court." 15 U.S.C. § 7902(a). Section 7903 contains several definitions that culminate to define a "qualified civil liability action" that § 7902 bars.

The relevant definition of a "qualified civil liability action" under PLCAA for purposes of this case is as follows:

The term "qualified civil liability action" means a civil action or proceeding or an administrative proceeding brought by any person against a manufacturer or seller of a qualified product, or a trade association, for damages, punitive damages, injunctive or declaratory relief, abatement, restitution, fines, or penalties, or other relief, resulting from the criminal or unlawful misuse of a qualified product by the person or a third party

§ 7903(5)(A) (emphasis added).

The first dispute in this case is whether Plaintiff's claims "[result] from the criminal or unlawful misuse of" the Beretta APX 9mm handgun, triggering PLCAA's prohibition on Plaintiff's claims. As used in the statute, "unlawful misuse" means "conduct that violates a statute, ordinance, or regulation as it relates to the use of" the firearm. 15 U.S.C. § 7903(9). Defendants have argued that Mr. Lewis's accidental discharge of the Handgun constituted a "criminal or unlawful misuse of" the Handgun. Conversely, Plaintiff has argued that an accident is just an accident, not a "criminal or unlawful misuse" under PLCAA.

The second dispute regarding PLCAA has to do with its "product defect" exception.

The definition of a "qualified civil liability action" quoted above continues by stating that such barred claims

shall not include--... an action for death, physical injuries or property damage resulting directly from a defect in design or manufacture of the product, when used as intended or in a reasonably foreseeable manner, except that where the discharge of the product was caused by a volitional act that constituted a criminal offense, then such act shall be considered the sole proximate cause of any resulting death, personal injuries or property damage....

§ 7903(5)(A)(v) (emphases added). Under this section of the statute, a claim alleging that a design or manufacturing defect caused personal injury is *not* considered a "qualified civil liability action," and is *allowed* by PLCAA unless the firearm discharge was caused by a "volitional act that constituted a criminal offense." In those circumstances, PLCAA says the volitional act constituting a criminal offense must be considered the sole proximate cause of any resulting injury.

Here, Defendants have argued that Mr. Lewis's accidental discharge of the firearm was a "volitional act that constituted a criminal offense" under Kansas law. Again, Plaintiff maintains that the accident, by definition, was not a "volitional act" and certainly not a criminal offense by any stretch.

If Plaintiff is correct in *either* statutory dispute, then summary judgment must be denied. That is, if the accidental discharge of the Handgun did *not* result from a "criminal or unlawful misuse" of the Handgun, then Plaintiff's claims do not meet the general statutory definition of a "qualified civil liability action." § 7903(5)(A). Independently, if the unintentional discharge was not a "volitional act that constituted a criminal offense,"

then Plaintiff's claims against Defendants fit § 7903(5)(A)(v)'s product defect exception from the definition of a "qualified civil liability action."

B. <u>Controlling authority from the United States Supreme Court requires a narrow construction of PLCAA protections.</u>

Precedent from the United States Supreme Court on the issue of federalism commands courts to narrowly construe the reach of federal laws like PLCAA that purport to intrude into areas of traditional state authority unless Congress has unmistakably stated an intent to broadly infringe on state law. See Gregory v. Ashcroft, 501 U.S. 452 (1991); Bond v. United States, 134 S. Ct. 2077 (2014); Cipollone v. Liggett Group, 505 U.S. 504 (1992). Here, PLCAA purports to intrude on a core aspect of Kansas's sovereign authority: its authority to exercise its police powers by empowering its courts to fashion and apply its tort law. See Martinez v. California, 444 U.S. 277, 282 (1980) ("the State's interest in fashioning its own rules of tort law is paramount to any discernible federal interest, except perhaps an interest in protecting the individual citizen from state action that is wholly arbitrary or irrational"). Common law rights to trial by jury and to a remedy in tort are so fundamental to Kansas's operation as an independent sovereign that they are expressly guaranteed by the Kansas Bill of Rights. See Hilburn v. Enerpipe Ltd., 309 Kan. 1127 (Kan. 2019).

The requirement to narrowly construe federal laws like PLCAA means that a court applying PLCAA does not look for a plain statement that *excludes* Plaintiff's claims from PLCAA's prohibition; rather, the court looks for a plain statement that PLCAA's bar *includes* Plaintiff's claim. *See Gregory*, 501 U.S. at 467; *see also Bond*, 134 S. Ct. at 2090

(requiring a "clear indication" before reading a federal statute to intrude on state law). In *Cipollone*, the U.S. Supreme Court clarified that even when a statute's "express language" mandates some degree of preemption, the "presumption [against preemption] reinforces the appropriateness of a narrow reading" of the "scope" of the preemption. *See Cipollone*, 505 U.S. at 516-18; *Medtronic*, *Inc. v. Lohr*, 518 U.S. 470, 485 (1996) (discussing *Cipollone*) (emphasis omitted).

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