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

argument that Lewis did in fact pull the slide back flies in the face of plain logic and 

common sense. The subject APX pistol discharged when Lewis intentionally pulled the 

trigger to begin the disassembly process. UF No. 29. R Vol. 5, 72. Logically, a live cartridge 

was in the firing chamber for a discharge to occur. It is undisputed a chambered cartridge 

will be ejected if a user fully retracts the slide of the subject APX pistol; Lewis knew this 

and had done so on prior occasions. UF No. 25. R Vol. 5, 71. But, as Lewis readily 

conceded, he did not pull the slide back at all, or at least not far enough to eject the 

chambered cartridge. Lewis Depo. at pp. 233:13-234:7. R Vol. 9, 74-75. A statement that 

is untrue on its face does not create a fact issue in opposing summary judgment because it 

has no "evidentiary value"; it is neither probative nor material; and no reasonable mind 
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could differ on this point. See, e.g., Seibert v. 1/ic Regnier Builders, Inc., 253 Kan. 540, 

541 (1993); Hare v. Wendler, 263 Kan. 434 (1997). 

2. The District Court Correctly Concluded That Whether Lewis Visually 
Checked the Chamber for a Live Cartridge Was Not Material to 
Appellees' Motion. 

Even though it erred in concluding Appellant had disputed Appellees' UF 26, the 

District Court correctly found "this factual dispute [ did] not rise to the level of a material 

issue," because whether Lewis checked the chamber or not, "the fact is undisputed that 

there was a live cartridge in the chamber of the firearm which discharged when Lewis 

pulled the trigger." J.E. at pg. 7. R Vol. 6, 357. Logically, Lewis either pulled the slide back 

to visually check the chamber or he did not. If he did not, as his own deposition testimony 

demonstrates, his mishandling of the subject pistol was egregious. 

If, on the other hand, Lewis did pull the slide back to check the chamber, he certainly 

failed to do so properly or completely. Under this latter hypothetical scenario, then, Lewis 

would have partially pulled the slide back and then failed to visualize a chambered cartridge 

for any number of reasons, such as inattentiveness, distractions, his hastiness in attempting 

to disassemble the subject pistol "in 2.2 seconds," or the conditions that may have existed 

in or around his vehicle at the time (e.g., low light, loud music, horseplay, a changing signal 

light, etc.). Why Lewis failed to observe the live round is of little moment, as the District 

Court observed, because it was the fact Lewis pointed the pistol in Appellant's direction 

and deliberately pulled the trigger which caused Appellant's damages. The District Court 

was therefore correct in deciding that UF 26, even if adequately disputed, was not material 

to the outcome of Appellees' motion. 
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D. Because The PLCAA Expressly Pre-empts Certain Claims, The 
District Court was Not Required to Narrowly Construe the Act. 

Citing Gregory v. Ashcroft, 501 U.S. 452 (1991) and Bond v. United States, 572 U.S. 

844 (2014), Appellant argues the "PLCAA purports to intrude on a core aspect of Kansas's 

sovereign authority: its authority to exercise its police powers by empowering its courts to 

fashion and apply its tort law." Opening Brief at pg. 12. Appellant then argues the "PLCAA 

lacks the requisite clear statement of intent to prohibit actions like this under its definition 

of 'qualified civil liability action."' Id at 13. Appellant's reliance on Gregory and Bond is 

misplaced because those cases dealt with implied preemption whereas the PLCAA 

"expressly and unambiguously preempts state tort law, subject to the enumerated 

exceptions." Delana v. CED Sales, Inc., 486 S.W.3d 316, 322-23 (Mo. 2016). 

Like the constitutional avoidance doctrine generally, Bond and Gregory stand for 

the proposition that statutes should be narrowly construed, if necessary, to avoid 

"upset[ ting] the usual constitutional balance of federal and state powers," thereby creating 

"a potential constitutional problem." Gregory, 501 U.S. at 460, 464; see Bond, 572 U.S. at 

858, 860. 

In Gregory, the Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether a provision in the 

Missouri Constitution providing that all "judges other than municipal judges shall retire at 

the age of seventy years" violates the Age Discrimination in Employment Act ("ADEA") 

and comports with equal protection pursuant to the federal constitution. 501 U.S. at 455. 

The Court noted that: 

Congressional interference with this decision [ requiring judges to retire at 
the age of seventy years] of the people of Missouri, defining their 

30 



constitutional officers, would upset the usual constitutional balance of 
federal and state powers. For this reason, it is incumbent upon the federal 
courts to be certain of Congress' intent before finding that federal law 
overrides this balance. 

501 U.S. at 460 (citation and quotation marks omitted). 

Nevertheless, the Court explained that as long as it is "acting within the powers 

granted it under the Constitution, Congress may impose its will on the States." Id. 

To determine whether Congress intended to alter the balance of power between the 

states and the federal government, the Supreme Court applies the plain statement rule, 

pursuant to which "Congress should make its intention clear and manifest if it intends 

to preempt the historic powers of the States." Gregory, 501 U.S. at 461 (citation and 

quotation marks omitted). In Gregory, the Court noted that the ADEA excluded from the 

definition of a covered employee any "person elected to public office in any State or 

political subdivision of any State" and an "appointee on the policy making level." Id. at 

465 (quoting 29 U.S.C. § 630(£)). The Supreme Court concluded that, in the context of the 

ADEA, a statute that "plainly excludes most important state public officials, 'appointee on 

a policymaking level' is sufficiently broad that we cannot conclude that the statute plainly 

covers appointed state judges. Therefore, it does not." Id. at 467. 

In Bond v. United States, the Supreme Court interpreted the Chemical Weapons 

Convention Implementation Act ("CWCIA"), a federal statute passed to effectuate the 

terms of a treaty known as the Convention on the Prohibition of the Development, 

Production, Stockpiling, and Use of Chemical Weapons and on Their Destruction. Bond, 

572 U.S. at 848-51. The Court held that the CWCIA did not apply to the conduct of a 
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woman who applied legal, commercially available chemicals to various surfaces hoping 

that her best friend, who was pregnant by her husband, would come into contact with them 

and "develop an uncomfortable rash," which resulted in the intended victim suffering a 

"minor chemical bum on her thumb, which she treated by rinsing with water." Id. at 852-

53. The Court noted that the CWCIA was designed to implement a treaty about the use of 

chemical weapons in "war crimes and acts of terrorism," id. at 855-56, and there was no 

clear indication that Congress intended it to apply to local criminal offenses. Id. at 865-66 

(noting that the case is unusual and the analysis appropriately limited). 

In Delana, supra, the Missouri Supreme Court unanimously rejected Appellant's 

argument that Gregory and Bond required that court to "narrowly construe the PLCAA to 

avoid federalism issues," quickly disposing of an argument that it found to be "without 

merit." Delana, supra, 486 S.W.3d at 322-23. The Delana court explained that: 

Gregory and Bond involved implied preemption. In both cases, the Court 
held that expansive statutory definitions should be narrowly construed to 
avoid excessive federal intrusion into traditional issues of state concern. 
Gregory and Bond are not applicable to this case because the PLCAA 
expressly and unambiguously preempts state tort law, subject to the 
enumerated exceptions. This preemption is accomplished pursuant to 
Congress's constitutional power to regulate interstate commerce. Because 
Congress has expressly and unambiguously exercised its constitutionally 
delegated authority to preempt state law negligence actions against sellers of 
firearms, there is no need to employ a narrow construction to avoid 
federalism issues. 

Id. at 323 (internal citations omitted).7 

7 Delana is not even cited, much less discussed, in the Opening Brief, despite the fact 
appellant's co-counsel at Brady United was counsel of record for Appellant Janet Delana 
in that case from the trial court up through the Missouri Supreme Court's decision. 
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The Supreme Court's decisions in Gregory and Bond address the issue of 

constitutional avoidance. Although not addressing those specific decisions, other courts 

have held that the doctrine of constitutional avoidance is inapplicable to construction of the 

PLCAA because its intent to bar qualified civil liability actions is clearly expressed and 

because there are no serious doubts about its constitutionality. See, e.g., Ileto v. Glock, Inc., 

565 F.3d 1126, 1143 (9th Cir. 2009) (holding that the doctrine of constitutional avoidance 

is not applicable to interpreting the PLCAA because "congressional intent is clear from the 

text and purpose of the statute," and there are no grave doubts over its constitutionality), 

cert. denied, 560 U.S. 924 (2010); see also, Estate of Kim ex rel. Alexander v. Coxe, 295 

P.3d 380, 387-88 (Alaska 2013) (narrow construction argument unavailing because "[t]he 

PLCAA expressly preempts state common law by requiring that state courts immediately 

dismiss qualified civil liability actions.");8 Prescott v. Slide Fire Sols. L.P, 410 F.Supp.3d 

1123, 1132 n.3 (D. Nev. 2019) (rejecting argument that federalism principles stated in 

Gregory and Bond require "a narrower construction of the PLCAA"); accord Travieso, 

supra, 526 F.Supp.3d at 540-41, 545-46; Riegel v. Medtronic, Inc., 552 U.S. 312, 326 

(2008) (rejecting dissent and finding no serious constitutional issue raised by preemption 

of tort laws where "the statute itself speaks clearly to the point ... "). 

As discussed at length infra, the PLCAA clearly indicates Congress's intention to 

"prohibit causes of action" brought under state tort law. 15 U.S.C. § 790l(b)(l); see id. § 

8 As with Delana, Estate of Kim is not cited in appellant's Opening Brief even though 
his co-counsel at Brady United was counsel of record for the Estate of Simone Young Kim 
and its personal representatives. 
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7902(a) (providing that certain tort actions "may not be brought in any Federal or State 

court"). There can be no question that in enacting the PLCAA, "Congress has expressly 

and unambiguously exercised its constitutionally delegated authority to preempt state law 

negligence actions against [ manufacturers and] sellers of firearms, there is no need to 

employ a narrow construction to avoid federalism issues." Delana, 486 S.W.3d at 323; 

accord Travieso, 526 F.Supp.3d at 541; Prescott, 410 F.Supp.3d at 1132 n.3 ("reject[ing] . 

. . argument in favor of a narrower construction of the PLCAA"). 

1. Appellant's Reliance on Soto v. Bushmaster Firearms Int'l, LLC Is 
Misplaced. 

Appellant's citation to Soto v. Bushmaster Firearms Int 'l, LLC, 202 A.3d 262 (Conn. 

2019), cert. denied sub nom Remington Arms Co., LLC v. Soto, 140 S.Ct. 513 (2019), is 

misplaced. Soto involved a lawsuit against a firearm manufacturer arising out of the 

Newtown school massacre. There, Appellants argued their negligent entrustment claims 

and Connecticut Unlawful Trade Practices Act ("CUTPA") claims were not barred by the 

PLCAA because those claims arguably fell within two exceptions to a qualified civil 

liability action - negligent entrustment claims under section 7903(5)(A)(ii), and CUTPA 

claims under the "predicate exception" in section 7903(5)(A)(iii)(knowing violations of "a 

State or Federal statutes applicable to the sale and marketing of the product [firearms or 

ammunition)"]. This exception has come to be known as the "predicate exception," 

requiring proof of a knowing violation of a "predicate statute." Ile to, supra, 565 F.3d at 

1132. 
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The Soto court rejected the negligent entrustment claim because it was, at its core, 

a claim that "the social costs of such sales [ AR-15 rifles] outweigh the perceived benefits." 

Id. at 283. As to the CUTPA claims, the court concluded the PLCAA "does not bar the 

Appellants' wrongful marketing claims and that, at least to the extent that it prohibits the 

unethical advertising of dangerous products for illegal purposes, CUTPA qualifies as a 

predicate statute." Id. at 325. 

Soto is inapposite for several reasons. First, that case involved negligent entrustment 

and wrongful marketing claims and thus the applicability of two exceptions not at issue 

here. (Appellant has conceded that the only qualified civil liability action exception even 

remotely applicable is the product defect exception in section 7903(5)(A)(v). R Vol. 7, 92-

93.) Second, the citation to Soto upon which Appellant relies involved an interpretation of 

the PLCAA as it specifically relates to the predicate exception. Opening Brief at pg. 13 

( citing Soto at pg. 312-313 and n. 58). Indeed, had Appellant cited that passage fully, it 

would have been clear the Court's statement related specifically to whether Connecticut's 

CUTPA sought to "regulate the wrongful advertising of dangerous products such as 

firearms ... " Soto, 202 A.3d at 313 ( emphasis added). Soto therefore has nothing to do 

with the product defect exception and has no bearing on any issue in this appeal. 

E. Appellant's Desire to Re-Write the Definition of Qualified Civil 
Liability Action Should Be Reiected. 

Appellant essentially argues that the phrase "resulting from the criminal or unlawful 

misuse of a qualified product" in the definition of"qualified civil liability action" in section 

7903(5)(A) should be interpreted as though it actually reads "solely caused by" criminal or 
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unlawful misuse of a qualified product. Opening Brief at pp. 14-17. Besides Soto v 

Bushmaster Firearms Int 'l, which is distinguished supra, Appellant does not cite a single 

PLCAA case where this argument has been accepted. 

As his counsel knows all too well, that same argument was made and rejected by 

the Supreme Court of Alaska in Estate of Kim. In Estate of Kim, the estate of a deceased 

shooting victim brought a wrongful death action against the victim's shooter and the gun 

store from which the shooter obtained the weapon used in the killing. Estate of Kim, supra, 

295 P.3d at 384. The estate alleged that the gun store negligently or illegally provided the 

shooter with the involved rifle. Id. at 385. As here, Appellant there argued (see, Opening 

Brief at pp. 14-16) that language found in the congressional findings and purposes sections 

of the PLCAA supports the view that the Act "provides immunity only in cases where the 

harm is caused solely by others." Id. at 386. In other words, the estate there argued that the 

PLCAA does not apply in cases alleging that a firearm seller and a criminal actor 

concurrently caused harm. 

The Alaska Supreme Court unequivocally rejected the argument, stating that the 

estate's construction of the PLCAA "seeks to elevate the preamble over the substantive 

portion of the statute, giving effect to one word in the preamble at the expense of making 

the enumerated exceptions meaningless." Id. at 3 87. The court further noted that a statutory 

preamble "can neither restrain nor extend the meaning of an unambiguous statute; nor can 

it be used to create doubt or uncertainty which does not otherwise exist." Id. at 3 86 ( quoting 

Commercial Fisheries Entry Comm'n v. Apokedak, 680 P.2d 486, 488 n. 3 (Alaska 1984) 

(internal quotations omitted). Moreover, the court held that the "plain reading" of the 
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PLCAA's "qualified civil liability action" definition "supports a prohibition on general 

negligence actions - including negligence with concurrent causation." Id. Accord, 

Phillips v. Lucky Gunner, LLC, 84 F.Supp.3d 1216, 1223-24 (D. Colo. 2015); Sambrano v. 

Savage Arms, Inc., 338 P.3d 103, 106 (N.M. Ct. App. 2014)["no distinction in the 

[Congress'] intent" between "solely caused" phrase in one of the PLCAA's purposes (15 

U.S. C. § 7901 (b )( 1)) and the "resulting from" language in the QCLA definition in section 

7903(5)(A)]; Delana, supra, 486 S.W.3d at 321-22 ("The general statement of the purpose 

of the PLCAA does not redefine the plain language of a statute" quoting, H.J Inc. v. Nw. 

Bell Tel. Co., 492 U.S. 229, 245 (1989).) The PLCAA's statement of purpose does not 

overcome the substantive provisions of the PLCAA, including the definition of a QCLA, 

which expressly preempt actions against firearms sellers resulting from criminal or 

unlawful misuse. 

F. Neither the Emporia Police Department's Conclusions About the 
"Accidental" Nature of the Shooting, nor the Lyon County Attorney's 
Decision Not to Prosecute Lewis, Are Binding on The District Court as 
to the Finding of Recklessness or Application of the PLCAA.

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